SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00312

RANDY T. STORY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CINDY F. ALLEN

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MARK G. WILLIAMSON ATTORNEY AT LAW P. O. BOX 1545 STARKVILLE, MS 39760 (662) 323-4395

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00312

RANDY T. STORY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CINDY F. ALLEN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN FINDING THAT THE BEST INTEREST OF THE MINOR CHILD OF THE PARTIES WAS TO ALLOW HER TO REMAIN IN THE CUSTODY OF THE MOTHER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

The Chancellor took judicial notice of the contents of the Chancery Court file.

On April 12, 1999 Randy T. Story (hereinafter Randy) filed a Petition for Determination of Paternity and Other Relief against Cindy F. Allen (hereinafter Cindy). On January 12, 2000 an Agreed Order was entered wherein Randy was found to be the father of Francesca Haze Allen (hereinafter Francesca). Cindy was given sole legal and physical custody of Francesca and Randy was given "standard visitation."

On March 23, 2000 an Order was entered finding Cindy in contempt of the January 12, 2000 Agreed Order for denying Randy visitation with Francesca. The Order also stated that if at anytime in the future, Cindy acts in such a manner, the Court will look with disfavor upon her actions and will take appropriate action to punish her by incarceration. Randy was awarded his attorney's fees against Cindy.

On December 28, 2001 a Judgment was entered finding Cindy in contempt for failing to take the action necessary to have Randy added as Francesca's father to Francesca's birth certificate. Randy was awarded his attorney's fees against Cindy.

In August of 2002 Cindy filed a report with the Hinds County Youth Court alleging that Randy sexually abused Francesca. Cindy was only seeking to have Randy's visitation stopped. On December 20, 2002, the Hinds County Youth Court ruled in part, "the Court was unable to determine whether the child was sexually abused or emotionally abused, or by whom." The Youth Court pointed out that no criminal charges had been filed against Randy by DHS or Cindy. The Hinds County Youth Court case was closed in October of 2003.

On December 16, 2002 Randy filed a Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody. On January 31, 2003 Cindy filed an Answer to Randy's Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody.

While the Hinds County Youth Court matter was pending, Randy had very little contact with Francesca pursuant to a Court Order. Because of the allegations of sexual abuse, the Chancellor in the Oktibbeha County Chancery Court proceeding also supervised Randy's visitation with Francesca for Christmas of 2003 and the summer of 2004.

A Motion to Appoint Guardian Ad Litern was filed June 10, 2003 by Randy. On September 2, 2003 an Agreed Order was entered appointing the Honorable Cecelia R. Cook as Guardian Ad Litern for Francesca.

On September 30, 2003 an Agreed Order was entered ordering the parties to start counseling and to file reports of that counseling with the Court. Randy complied with the Court Order, but Cindy did not.

On July 23, 2004 an Agreed Temporary Order for Visitation was entered.

On February 1, 2006 a Motion for Trial Setting was filed by Randy's attorney and an Order was entered setting this case for trial. After several continuance orders were entered, this case was set for trial on December 8 and 12, 2006.

On July 31, 2006 a Wyoming Court entered an Order Declining Jurisdiction and Granting Motion to Dismiss on a cause of action filed by Cindy a few months earlier which involved all of what was still pending before the Chancery Court of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi on Randy's Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody. On November 17, 2006 an Agreed Order was entered giving Randy leave to amend his Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody. On November 20, 2006 Randy filed an Amended Petition for Citation for Contempt and Modification of Custody. On November 29, 2006 an Answer to Randy's Amended Petition for Citation for Contempt and Modification of Custody was filed by Cindy.

This case was tried on December 8 and 12, 2006. On January 31, 2007, the Court below entered its Opinion and Judgment. On the issue of Cindy's contempt, the Chancellor found Cindy in willful and contumacious contempt of this Court for her failure to comply with Court ordered visitation. The following sanctions were imposed:

- (1) Cindy shall strictly comply with all orders of this Court including this Order and shall foster a good father/daughter relationship with Randy and Francesca.
- (2) Randy is awarded a judgment against Cindy for \$31,285.24 for attorney fees and expenses.

The Court ordered visitation that Cindy refused to allow Randy to exercise that are addressed in the Chancellor's Opinion and Judgment are as follows:

- 1.) The Chancellor found that Randy had been effectively denied telephone contact with Francesca for the last two years.
 - 2.) Cindy denied Randy three weeks of his summer 2006 visitation.
- Cindy's most egregious conduct occurred at Christmas 2005. On Friday, December 9,
 Cindy told Randy, by text message, that he could pick up Francesca in Casper, Wyoming on

Christmas. Randy traveled to Wyoming only to learn that Cindy and Francesca were in Mississippi.

Randy called Cindy's brother's home and learned that his daughter was in Mississippi. Cindy's brother sarcastically told Randy to "Have a Merry Christmas in Wyoming."

While not specifically addressing any other Court ordered visitation missed by Randy because of Cindy's contemptuous behavior, the Chancellor did find that Cindy falsely accused Randy of sexually abusing Francesca. The Chancellor also found that because of the allegations of sexual abuse that Randy had very little contact with Francesca while the Hinds County Youth Court matter was pending and that the Chancellor himself had ordered Randy to have supervised visitation with Francesca for Christmas of 2003 and the summer of 2004.

On the issue of modification of custody, the Chancellor found that Cindy's denial of Randy's contact with his daughter, her frequent moves, failure to have Court ordered counseling and false accusations of sexual abuse are material changes in circumstances that adversely affect Francesca. The Court then made the required Albright findings.

- 1. Age, Health and Sex of the Child. Francesca is a healthy 8 year old female. This factor is neutral.
- 2. Continuity of Care. Francesca has been with her mother most of her life. Her separation from her father is due to Cindy's conduct. However, this factor favors Cindy.
- 3. Willingness and Capacity to Provide Primary Child Care. Randy and Cindy both have the willingness and capacity to care for Francesca. This factor favors neither party.
- 4. Employment of the Parents and Responsibilities of that Employment. Randy has basically the same job since Francesca's birth. He moved from Illinois to Mississippi so he could be closer to Francesca. Cindy is a forester with the Department of Interior. She has worked for Weyerhauser, been a nursing student, and a stay-at-home mom. This factor favors Randy.

- 5. Physical and Mental Health and Age of the Parents. Randy and Cindy are both healthy, and their age and health are not factors in this custody decision. This factor is neutral.
- 6. Emotional Ties of Parent and Child. Francesca is close emotionally to her parents and the parents to her. Cindy has failed Francesca by not cultivating Francesca's relationship with her father. This factor slightly favors Cindy.
- 7. Moral Fitness of Parents. Randy is a moral person and fit to have custody of Francesca. Cindy's flagrant disregard of Court Orders reflects on her moral fitness to be a parent. On two occasions Cindy has agreed to orders only to immediately violate the orders. This factor clearly favors Randy.
- 8. The Home, School and Community Record of the Child. Francesca does well in school and has friends in Wyoming. However, most of her family live in Mississippi. Randy lives in Olive Branch, Mississippi and his parents in Illinois. This factor slightly favors Cindy.
 - 9. Preference of the Child. Francesca is not legally old enough to express a preference.
- 10. Stability of the Home Environment and Employment of Each Parent. Randy has worked for the same employer for the last seven years. Randy has lived at the same address for the last seven years. Cindy has been unemployed, has attended nursing school, and has worked for different employers on and off for the last seven years. Cindy has lived at nine different addresses, West Monroe, Louisiana; Starkville, Mississippi; Grand Isle, Louisiana; Hattiesburg, Mississippi; Purvis, Mississippi; Terry, Mississippi; and Casper, Wyoming in the last seven years. Cindy married Steve Melton in 2001 and they divorced in 2003. Cindy has been married four times. This factor favors Randy.
 - 11. Other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship. All factors observed by the

Court have been discussed.

Despite Cindy's conduct, the Court, with serious reservation, ruled that Francesca's best interest is served by Cindy having her physical custody. The Court assured Cindy that her further interference with Randy's relationship with his daughter will have serious consequences.

Aggrieved by the Court's custody decision Randy appeals. Randy filed his Notice of Appeal on February 21, 2007, Designation of the Record on February 23, 2007 and Certificate of Compliance on February 28, 2007.

B. FACTS

Counsel for Randy Story (hereinafter Randy) asked the Court to take judicial notice of the contents of the Chancery Court file and counsel for Cindy Allen (hereinafter Cindy) had no objection. (R78)

Randy and Cindy never married, but they had a child, Francesca Haze Allen, (hereinafter Francesca) who was born on May 31, 1998 and was 8 years old at the time this case went to trial.

Randy lives in Horn Lake, Mississippi. He has lived there for six years. He moved from Chicago, Illinois to Horn Lake, Mississippi because of the birth of his daughter, Francesca. She was living in Starkville, Mississippi when he moved to Horn Lake, Mississippi. (R80-81)

Randy is the branch technical manager for Konica Minolta Corporation in the Memphis,

Tennessee office. He has worked for this corporation for 21 years. (R81-82)

Randy filed a Petition for Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody in December of 2002 because Cindy was constantly interfering with his visitation. Cindy would not allow him to visit Francesca. Cindy had been interfering with his visitation since the entry of the Paternity Order in January of 2000. (R83) Cindy was held in contempt for interfering with Randy's visitation in March of 2000, just three months after the Paternity Order was entered. (R83-84)

Another reason that prompted Randy to file the Petition f or Citation for Contempt and for Modification of Custody was Cindy lodging abuse allegations against him with DHS. (R84) No criminal charges were ever filed against Randy. (R84) During the Youth Court proceedings, the only relief Cindy was asking from the Court was to stop Randy's visitation. Cindy had been trying to stop Randy's visitation for years prior to this allegation. (R84-85) This was not the first time Randy had been threatened with sexual molestation. When Francesca was an infant and she and Cindy were living in Grand Isle, Louisiana, Cindy's sister, Jacqueline Hand, threatened Randy with filing sexual molestation charges against him if he continued to try and see Francesca. (R85)

The Youth Court had a hearing in December of 2002 and entered an Order. (R88) The Order said in part...having read and considered the petition, the allegations of sexual abuse, and having heard the testimony of witnesses, finds that the said child is an abused child within the means of the Youth Court Act, but the Court is unable to determine whether the child is sexually abused or emotionally abused or by whom. (R89, Exh. P-4) The Youth Court file was closed in October of 2003. (R89-90) Randy had supervised visitation from 2002 to 2004. He went to every one. (R177)

Randy filed a motion to have a Guardian Ad Litem appointed in Chancery Court. Judge Gore was no longer on the bench and Judge Burns had been assigned this case. An Agreed Order was entered by the Court on September 30, 2003. The parties were ordered by the Court to start counseling and Randy had to have a home study conducted. Reports were to be filed with the court and opposing counsel. Randy complied with the Court Order, Cindy never did. (R90-93, Exh. P-5)

Randy was given telephone visitation with Francesca in the July 22, 2004 Court Order. He was allowed to call and talk with her twice a week. (R93) Randy was able to talk with Francesca for about six weeks after the entry of the Court Order. Francesca was living in Casper, Wyoming at this time. (R94) During this period when Cindy would answer the phone she would tell Randy to

go away, get a life, that he was pathetic, a loser and to just leave them alone. The telephone number Randy had been given to call was Cindy's cell phone number. (R95)

After the first six weeks, Randy was no longer able to talk with Francesca. When he called he got a Spanish recording and the call would then disconnect without giving him an opportunity to leave a message. This Spanish recording continued for awhile and then Randy started getting a message that said the cellular customer refuses to answer the phone at this time and then the phone call would be disconnected. (R96-97) The tape of the Spanish recording and one other recording was introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-6. (R105-106, Exh. P-6)

Randy produced two years worth of his telephone records from November of 2004 through September of 2006. The telephone records were introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-7. One number to Casper, Wyoming was highlighted throughout the entire two years of records. It was Cindy's number, (307) 258-6904. The telephone records showed one-minute calls and an occasional two minute call to her number. Anytime there was a connection, regardless of its duration up to one minute it was listed on the telephone records as a one-minute call. During this two year period of time, Randy testified he was allowed to talk to Francesca less than six times. He testified that he kept calling in hopes of Cindy allowing him to talk with Francesca. (R107-111, Exh. P-7)

In the summer of 2006, Cindy contacted Randy's employer by e-mail. The e-mail was from Cindy's e-mail address to his employer's e-mail address. The e-mail was introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-8. The message said, "Please, if you see Francesca Allen with Randy Story, ask if she is okay. He will not let her have any contact with her custodial family, and she is only suppose to have supervised visitation with him." (R111-113, Exh. P-8)

Randy and Cindy were operating under the 2000 Court Order in so far as visitation during the summer of 2005. Randy was suppose to have five weeks of summer visitation pursuant to this

Order, but Cindy only allowed him 2 weeks. Randy notified Cindy well in advance of summer of his intentions to exercise his five weeks of summer visitation. Shortly thereafter, Cindy told Randy that she had signed Francesca up for summer school and that he could not have his five weeks. Cindy told him that Francesca would not advance to the second grade if she did not take this summer class. Randy contacted the school and requested Francesca's records and one of the documents he received stated "All indicators are good. Proceed to the second grade." The school records were introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-9. Randy also looked into this summer school class and it was not affiliated with her school and it was just a program for the kids to get together and encourage reading and to stay fresh. Even after he confronted Cindy with all of this information, she still only allowed him two weeks of his summer visitation in 2005. (R113-117, Exh. P-9) On cross-examination Cindy admitted that Francesca's school records stated that she's placed in the second grade. She's ready for the second grade. Just read with her over the summer and she'll be fine. (R297)

Cindy denied Randy Christmas visitation for 2005. However, Randy was not aware that Cindy was going to keep Francesca from him that Christmas until he got to Casper, Wyoming to pick her up and discovered that Cindy and Francesca were not in Casper, but were in Mississippi.

A text message log regarding text messages between Randy and Cindy about Christmas visitation in 2005 was introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-10. (R124) Randy received a text message from Cindy on December 9, 2005 that said, "If you insist, you may pick her up in Casper on Christmas." (R124) After receiving this December 9, 2005 text message from Cindy, Randy never heard from Cindy again until Christmas Day when he received a voice mail message from Cindy telling him that they were in Mississippi and to call her at her brother's house. (R125, 127, 129) Randy called her brother's number and he answered. As Randy was introducing himself

and telling him that he was in Wyoming, her brother interrupted Randy and said "Well, you have a Merry Christmas in Wyoming." He also said that Cindy and Francesca were not there and Randy asked if he could call back later to talk to Francesca and her brother said, "You can try if you want." Randy tried to call back several times and nobody answered. (R130-131) Ken Allen is Cindy's brother. He admitted telling Randy during that call to have a Merry Christmas in Wyoming. (R225) Cindy also admitted that her brother told her that Randy called and that she did nothing in response to being told this by her brother. (R319) From December 10, 2005 through December 24, 2005, Randy continuously text messaged Cindy trying to coordinate the exchange of Francesca in Casper, Wyoming, but he never heard back from Cindy. (R126-127)

Having heard nothing from Cindy since December 9, 2005 when she told Randy in a text message that he could pick Francesca up in Casper on Christmas, he sets out on his trip. He leaves Horn Lake, Mississippi and drives ten hours to Michigan to his parents home, where he and Francesca are going to spend Christmas. He then drove two hours to the airport in Chicago. He flies to Denver. He rents a car and drives four hours north to Casper, Wyoming. He then rents a hotel room and spends the night. The next morning, which is Christmas Day, he goes to pick up Francesca and she is not there. Randy learns later that day from a voice mail message he gets from Cindy that she and Francesca are in Mississippi. He drives four hours back to Denver. He flies back to Chicago. Drives from Chicago back to his parents' home in Michigan. Then drives back to Mississippi. (R127-132)

Randy's parents were celebrating their first Christmas in their new home. The house was just incredible. Randy's mother works hard every year for Christmas, but this year she put extra effort into it. Everything was set up for Francesca. (R131-132)

Randy incurred \$1,195.24 in expenses on this Christmas 2005 trip. The expenses were

introduced into evidence and were marked as Exhibit P-11. Randy is seeking reimbursement of those expenses. (R133, Exh. P-11)

Randy filed a Motion for a Trial Setting in February of 2006 and Cindy filed an action in Wyoming to transfer the case to Wyoming. The Wyoming Court declined jurisdiction. (R133-134)

Cindy has never provided Randy any of Francesca's school records, school pictures, school activities or medical records. (R136)

Randy lives in a three bedroom, two full baths, seven year old home. His neighborhood is packed with kids. He has two dogs and a gerbil. Francesca would be attending Horn Lake Elementary School. (R136-137)

Randy identified his lawyer's itemized bill for his services. The itemizations of time start when the modification was filed in December of 2002. The total number of hours devoted to both the modification and contempt action since December of 2002 was 338.5. At \$150.00 an hour, that amounted to \$50,775.00. The total number of hours devoted to only the contempt action since December of 2002 was 200.6. At \$150.00 an hour, that amounted to \$30,090.00. (R137-139) Randy's attorney's fees were introduced into evidence and marked as Exhibit P-12. (R143) Both sides waived the McKee factors in regards to attorney fees. (R200)

Since the filing of the paternity action Randy has incurred over \$100,000.00 in legal fees, expert fees, private investigator fees and other fees just to see his daughter and be a part of her life. (R139)

Randy is asking for custody of Francesca and for Cindy to have structured supervised visitation because of the possibility of her fleeing. He wants Cindy held in contempt and for her to pay his attorney fees that are related to the contempt portion of these proceedings, which is \$30,090.00. He also wants his travel expenses for going to Casper reimbursed. (R140)

Cindy admitted she did hide from Randy in 2000 for about 3 months. (R243)

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