IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00312

RANDY T. STORY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CINDY F. ALLEN

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ALLEN AUSTIN VOLLOR VOLLOR LAW FIRM, P.A. P.O. BOX 80120 STARKVILLE, MS 39759 (662) 323-0083

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

RANDY T. STORY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00312

CINDY F. ALLEN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Appellant contends the Chancellor abused his discretion by failing to grant his motion to modify custody. He argues that the Chancellor incorrectly determined certain individual *Albright* factors. Further, since incorrectly determining the certain factors, it led to them being improperly weighted during the determination of what was in the best interest of the child. Appellee believes that the Chancellor had an evidentiary basis in the record for each of its *Albright* determinations and had a reasonable basis for denying the Appellant's Motion to Modify Custody. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Chancellor's opinion and judgment.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review in domestic relations cases is limited by the

Substantial evidence/manifest error rule. *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So.2d 583, 586 (Miss. 2002) (citing *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281, 1285 (Miss. 1994)). The Court will not "disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard." *Hensarling*, 824 So.2d at 586 (citing *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281, 1285 (Miss. 1994)).

Further, the standard of review regarding child custody cases is also limited. The Court will reverse a chancellor's decision regarding child custody determinations only when the "decision of the trial court was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was employed." *Hensarling*, 824 So.2d at 587; *Wright v. Stanley*, 700 So.2d 274, 280 (Miss. 1997); *Williams v. Williams*, 656 So.2d 325, 330 (Miss. 1995). This Court will always treat the best interest of the child as the "polestar consideration." *Robinson v. Lanford*, 841 So.2d 1119, 1122 (Miss. 2003) (Citing *Hensarling*, 824 So.2d at 587).

"In proceedings to modify custody, 'the prerequisites [are] (1) proving a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and (2) finding that the best interest of the child requires the change of custody." *Robinson*, 841 So.2d at 1124 (quoting *Brocato v. Brocato*, 731 So.2d 1138, 1141 (Miss. 1999)). The burden of proof rests with the parent requesting modification. *Id.* In order for child custody to be modified, a non-custodial party must prove (1) there has been a substantial change; (2) the change adversely affects the children's welfare; and (3) a change in custody is the best interest of the child. *Bredemeier v. Jackson*, 689 So.2d 770, 775 (Miss. 1997); *Thompson v. Thompson*, 799 So.2d 919, 922

(Miss.Ct.App. 2001). "However, A chancellor is *never* obliged to ignore a child's best interest in weighing a custody change; in fact, a chancellor is bound to consider the child's best interest above all else. 'Above all, in 'modification cases, as in original awards of custody,' we never depart from our polestar consideration the best interest and welfare of the child. "" *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740, 744 (Miss. 1996)(quoting *Ash v. Ash*, 622 So.2d 1264, 1266 (Miss.1993))(citing *Marascalco v. Marascalco*, 445 So.2d 1380, 1382 (Miss. 1984)). See also *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). A modification of custody is warranted in the event that the moving parent successfully shows that an application of the *Albright* factors revels that there has been material change in those circumstances which has an adverse effect on the child and modification of custody would be in the child's best interest. *Sanford v. Arlinder*, 800 So.2d 1267, 1272 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001).

B. Review of Law

The noncustodial father in this case, whom the Chancellor denied his motion to change custody arrangement, cites several cases to support its contention that the trial court abused its discretion. A brief discussion of these cases follows.

In Hill v. Hill, 942 So.2d 207 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006), the trial court, on the counter-petition of the father who did not have primary physical custody, but joint legal custody, the Chancellor granted the Counter-Petition, changing legal and primary physical custody to the father. In affirming the Chancellor, the Court of Appeals noted their was sufficient evidence in the record to support the Chancellors finding of a (1) material change in circumstance, (2) the change adversely affect the child's welfare and (3) the change in custody mandated by the child's best interests. The Court did not find the result as a mandate from the facts, but only that the evidence supported the Chancellor's finding. The Chancellor had found severe instability in the

present home life of the child, including frequent moves and relationships of the mother with other men. Unlike the case before this Court, the Chancellor did not find that there had been danger because of the other relationships and moves, only that one marriage and some moves has occurred.

Story then attempts to rely on *Barnett v. Oathout*, 883 So.2d 563 (Miss. 2004) to support his position. At page 25 of its brief, the Appellant stated *Barnett* aided his position because, *Barnett* at 573, "... if the mother were awarded continued custody, there was nothing to suggest she would be any more cooperative and that allowing her to continue to attempt to diminish the relationship between the boys and their father "is certainly not in the boys' best interest." (quotation from Chancellor's opinion at 573)". *Oathout* was the natural father of the children in question. *Barnett* was not the natural mother, but the foster mother of the children. The children had been taken by Mississippi Department of Human Services from the custody of *Oathout* and the natural mother because of medical neglect pursuant to the Youth Court Act.

Oathout had rehabilitated himself by leaving the natural mother, married a nurse with her own children, and attended church regularly. Oathout filed a Motion seeking the return to custody of the natural children to him. The chancellor found that a sufficient change of circumstances had occurred to justify the return the child to the natural parent over the foster parent. The reviewing court found that substantial evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's finding that there existed that a material change to justify restoring to a natural parent custody, where custody had been deprived due to neglect under the Youth Court Act. The Court of Appeals did not say that the evidence mandated the change, just that sufficient evidence existed in the record to sustain a change.

Story next offers *Brown v. White*, 875 So.2d 1116 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004) to stand for the proposition that a Chancellor should change custody upon presentation of evidence of frequent

residence changes by a custodial parent. That is not what the *Brown v. White* Court said. In that case, a noncustodial parent was granted a change of custody to him by a Chancellor for several reasons, one of which was frequent location changes, *Brown*, at 1119. The Chancellor then went on to further explain that the changes had contributed to the child negative academic performance, including, but not limited to, failing the first grade. The *Brown* Chancellor also found that the child had been exposed to pornographic tapes and that the custodial mother's new employment was going to require the employment of at least two different babysitters. These facts taken together caused the Chancellor to believe that it was in the best interest of the child.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals simply found that there was a sufficient evidentiary basis in the record for the Chancellor to make his decision that a material change had occurred, the change was detrimental, and that modification was in the best interest of the child, *Brown*, at 1120. In its discussion, the Court of Appeals contrasted another case, *Brown v. Brown*, 764 So.2d 502 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). In *Brown v. Brown*, the ruling Chancellor was presented with a noncustodial parent attempting to obtain custody based on the children's custodial parent having moved six times in six years, that parent failing to pay utility bills, lived with three different men in the same house with the children, and used profanity in the children's presence among other negative facts. The ruling Chancellor held that these allegations did not constitute a material change in circumstances. The Mississippi Court of Appeals also found that the *Brown v. Brown* Chancellor had sufficient evidence in the record to rule as he did and that he had not abused his discretion. The Appellee's point is that there is nothing determinative in the law about the number of times a custodial parent moves during a custodial period, only that it is one factor among many for the Chancellor to consider.

Next, in Appellant's brief page 26, Story states, including a purported partial quote from page 1271 of *Masino v. Masino*, 829 So.2d 1267 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002) that "Any parent who,

without just cause, by their conduct demonstrates a willingness to alienate a child from the child's other parent and interfere with the relationship between the child and the other parent, 'raises a serious question concerning his or her fitness to maintain custody.'' Though appellant cannot locate the exact quote in the opinion cited, appellant will address the substance of the argument. The *Masino* Court was reviewing an award of custody to a father over the mother by a Chancellor in an original divorce proceeding. The Court of Appeals noted that the trial court did pain-staking, fact-intensive *Albright* findings, *Masino*, at 1271. This was the first award of permanent custody, not a change in existing custody arrangements.

The Chancellor found eight of the Albright factors in the father's favor and the mother's deliberate and ongoing interference with the father's relationship, taken with the mother's refusal to attended parenting and co-parenting classes as to find award of custody to the father in the child's best interest. The key finding of the Court of Appeals, however, was that "the chancellor's findings were thorough, deliberate and supported by substantial evidence. We will not disturb them."

Another case cited by Story where a Chancellor's decision was undisturbed by the Court of Appeals was *Jernigan v. Jernigan*, 830 So.2d 651 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). The Chancellor in *Jernigan* at 653, granted a noncustodial parent's motion for custody based on several factors, including the presentation of false sexual abuse when no medical evidence existed of such abuse, but primarily on the agreement of the guardian ad litem and counselor that the child would suffer "adverse impacts in the future were she to remain in her mother's custody." Again, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found, at 654, absent any showing of abuse of discretion (by the Chancellor) we are without power to reverse the Chancellor's decision. Having reviewed the record and briefs, we find no abuse (of discretion) ..." The Appellant in this case seems to imply that ultimately unfounded allegations of sexual abuse necessitate a change in custody. The

Mississippi Court of Appeals in *Jerrigan*, at 653, cites the Mississippi Supreme Court case of *Touchstone v. Touchstone*, 682 So.2d 374 (Miss. 1996).

The Jernigan Court, at 653, discussing Touchstone at 377 and 379 states:

In *Touchstone*, the parents shared custody, and their visitation exchanges included "vicious, profanity-laden accusations and insults between the parties." *Touchstone* at 377. Additionally, the mother was shown to have coerced the child into telling social workers that his father had sexually abused him, though the claims were not substantiated with medical evidence or testimony. The mother also moved out of state with the child and failed to abide by the visitation guidelines set by the court. The Supreme Court reviewed the evidence and circumstances presented and affirmed the chancellor's finding that although the child had witnessed the disdain his parents held for one another, there was no evidence that such episodes were characteristic of the overall circumstances in which the child lived; thus the chancellor declined to modify custody, having found no adverse impact. *Touchstone*, at 379.

The lesson is clear. With evidence in the record to support his decision, a chancellor will not be reversed when he changes custody in the best interest of the child in part of the basis of false sexual abuse allegations or when she does not change custody.

At page 27 of his brief, Story states, based on *Mord v. Peters*, 571 So.2d 981, 983 (Miss. 1990) that "So important is the child's right and a non-custodial parent's right to develop this relationship, some Courts have permitted a change of custody where it is determined that the custodial parent has interfered with a non-custodial parent's visitation rights." This next sentence in the opinion, *Mord*, at 983, referred to cases such that "custodial parent's interference with custodial parents visitation rights is an act so inconsistent with the best interests of the children, as to, per se, raise a strong probability that the offending party is unfit to act as custodial parent." (Citations omitted) The Mississippi Supreme Court did not imply that mere interference with visitation requires a chancellor to consider a custody change, but that, if interference rose to such a level to *de facto* deny visitation, a custodial parent might be not acting in the best interest of the child and a change in custody might be warranted.

Another case cited in support by the Appellant was *Thornhill v. Van Dan*, 918 So.2d 725 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005). Here, the Chancellor found that a custody change was in the best interest of the child. The Mississippi Court of Appeals again said it found adequate evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's decision and so affirmed. In that case, the Chancellor had found no *Albright* factor in favor of the parent who lost custody, but most importantly, the child's education had been interrupted in order to thwart the non-custodial parent's participation in educational decisions and the child had been involved in arguments between the parties, *Thornhill*, at 733-4. Finally, the party who lost custody basically did not appeal on the basis of misapplication of the law as described and used in this case, but instead on a late claim of non-paternity. The *Thornhill* case does not illuminate this case before the Court.

C. Discussion of the Albright and other relevant factors

Francesca Allen in many ways is a lucky child. She has both a mother and father, with their extended families, vigorously pursuing the rights of parenthood as well as the responsibilities, a condition all too rare in our current age. Further, the contest between the mother and father seems to be from genuine affection and concern for Francesca, and not merely an extension of whatever personal issues exist between the appellant Randy T. Story and appellee Cindy F. Allen. It is further testament to their love for their daughter that, despite the obvious bitter enmity between the parties that barely make them able to speak to each other, that Francesca has not appeared to suffered ill-effects from that enmity.

The Chancellor, in paragraphs 18, 19 and 20 of his written order felt it was his duty to make specific findings of fact applying the *Albright* factors because (1) denial by Allen to Story certain contact with Francesca, (2) Cindy Allen's frequent moves, (3) avoidance of court-ordered counseling and (4) false accusation of sexual abuse. He held those four factors were a material change in circumstance that adversely affected Francesca. Allen denies that she avoided

counseling and that her previous attorney failed to furnish proof to the Court and that the accusation was not found to be false, merely insufficient evidence to proceed with further action. (R.E. 331-332). The specific *Albright* factors are reviewed next:

1. Age, Health and Sex of the Child

The Court found Francesca to be a healthy 8 year-old female. The factor is neutral. (R.E. 332).

Neither Story nor Allen disputes this.

2. Continuity of Care

The Court found that Francesca has been with her mother most of her life. Her separation from her father is due to Allen's contempt. However, this factor favors Allen. (R.E. 332)

The Appellant Story at pages 28-30 of his brief stated that the Chancellor committed manifest error in his finding. The error claimed is finding the factor in favor of Allen after having found the separation was caused by Allen's contempt.

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